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2 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLUMBIA UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,::
v.: 21-cr-00175 (TJK): ETHAN NORDEAN, ET AL.: AUGUST 17, 2023 SENTENCING MEMORANDUM IN
SUPPORT OF JOSEPH BIGGS AND ZACHARY REHL Defendants Biggs and Rehl submit a joint sentencing
memorandum despite asserting different positions as to the appropriate sentence in this case. They do so to
avoid unnecessary duplication of pleadings. They have been granted permission to be represented by the same
counsel at sentencing after the Court engaged in a colloquy with counsel and the defendants about the potential
for a conflict. Both defendants waived any potential conflicts. Counsel, mindful of his duty of loyalty to both
clients, does not believe there is a conflict, and that the filing of a joint sentencing memorandum is appropriate.1
However disappointed Mssrs. Biggs and Rehl may be by the verdict in their cases, and whatever prospects and
hopes they may have for an appeal, they accept the necessity of addressing an appropriate sentence given the
counts of conviction. They concede at the outset that they violated the law, even not all of the crimes charged
herein. They ask, nonetheless, for a non-guidelines sentence well below the estimate provided in the PSR, to
which they have filed, under seal, their objections; and they ask for a sentence far below the sentencing
recommendation the Government is expected to 1 At the time this memorandum was drafted, the undersigned
did not have the final version of the PSR. Any citations to paragraphs herein refer to the draft PSR submitted to
counsel for review. 1 2 make. The defendants are not terrorists. Whatever excesses of zeal they demonstrated
on January 6, 2021, and no matter how grave the potential interference with the orderly transfer of power due to
the events of that day, a decade or more behind bars is an excessive punishment. The fact is that the counting of
Electoral votes was delayed for several hours but our institutions proved equal to the task of responding to the
tumult of that day, tumult fostered, in no small measure, by the prospect of then-President Donald Trump
insisting that the election of 2020 had been stolen from him, and, by extension, the American people, an act
which, if true, would dwarf by many orders of magnitude the hours-long delay in tabulating votes on January 6,
2021. Neither Mr. Rehl nor Mr. Biggs recites the role of President Trump as justification for their actions, but,
certainly believing the commander in chief and heeding his call should yield some measure of mitigation.2 I. The
Guidelines The United States Sentencing Guidelines are no longer mandatory, they are advisory in nature, and
the Court must consider them in imposing a sentence. United States v. Booker, 543 U.S. 2220, 245-246 (2005.)
The sentencing Court is required to consider the guidelines range, and then consider the factors laid out in I8
United States Code Section 3553(a). It is the Court's responsibility to impose a sentence sufficient, but not
greater than necessary to accomplish the goals of Section 3553(a). Rita v. United States, 551 U.S. 338, 347
(2007). 2 Another jury on another day will decide whether the President acted with knowledge that these claims
were false, whether, in effect, he played the American public and his supporters for fools in a venal effort to retain
the power and the office of the presidency at all costs. 2 2 II. Sentencing Factors Section 3553(a) requires
consideration of the following factors: ◼ The nature and circumstances of the offense and the history and
characteristics of the defendant (subsection (a)(1)); ◼ The need for the sentence to reflect the seriousness of the
offense, promote respect for the law and to provide just punishment (subsection (a)(2)(A)); ◼ The need for
adequate deterrence to criminal conduct (subsection(a)(2)(B)); ◼ The need to protect the public from further
crimes by the defendant (subsection (a)(2)(C)); ◼ The effort to assure rehabilitation of the defendant by such
services as the Bureau of Prisons may provide (subsection (a)(2)(D)). III. The Verdict Each defendant was
charged tried on a nine-count indictment. The verdicts as regards Mr. Biggs and Mr. Rehl were identical. Each
man was convicted of six of the nine counts, and acquitted of one counts. The jury could not reach a verdict on
two counts, and those counts were dismissed. a. Counts of Conviction Each defendant was convicted of the
following crimes: Count One, seditious conspiracy, in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 2384; Count Two, conspiracy
to obstruct an official proceeding, in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 1512(k); Count Three, obstruction of an official
proceeding and aiding and abetting, in violation of 18 U.S.C. Sections 1512(c)(2) and 2; 3 2 Count Four,
conspiracy to prevent an officer from discharging duties, in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 372; Count Five,
obstructing officers during a civil disorder and aiding and abetting, 18 U.S.C. Sections 231(a)(3) and 2; Count
Six, destruction of government property of value over $1000 (fence), in violation of 18 U.S.C Sections 1361 and
2. b. Acquittals Each defendant was acquitted of the following count: Count Nine, assaulting, resisting, or
impeding certain officers, in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 111(a). c. The Dismissed Counts The jury could not
reach a unanimous verdict as to each of the following two counts, and those counts were dismissed: Counts
Seven, destruction of government property and aiding abetting, in violation of U.S.C. Sections 1362 and 2, Count
Eight, assaulting, resisting. Or impeding certain officers, in violation of 18 U.S.C. Section 111(a). IV. The PSR
Recommendations A. Mr Biggs The initial PSR submitted by the probation officer calculated a Guidelines range
of 135 to 168 months for Mr. Biggs, based on a total offense level of 33 (Biggs PSR, para. 129) and a criminal
history range of I (Biggs PSR, para. 132). The probation officer noted that Mr. Biggs appears to be unable to pay
a fine. (Biggs, para. 177). Mr. Biggs filed under 4 2 seal objections to the PSR contending that 13 points of
enhancements to the base offense level of 14 were inappropriate as they were based on factors relating to
interference with the administration of justice (Biggs PSR, paras. 120, 121 and 122); in the instant case, the
offense conduct pertains to an official proceeding, and not to the administration of justice. Mr. Biggs also objected
to the two-point enhancement for obstruction arising from his giving misleading statements to FBI agents in the
initial stages of the investigation on the grounds that the statements were immaterial. Mr. Biggs contacted the
Government himself to correct one misstatement, and, generally, that the enhancement overstated the
seriousness of the offense. Mr. Biggs does not contest the four-point leadership enhancement in the PSR. (Biggs
PSR, para. 124) According to Mr. Biggs, an appropriate offense level is therefore 18. According to the Guidelines
Table, that corresponds to a sentence of 27 to 33 months. B. Mr. Rehl The initial PSR submitted for Mr. Rehl
calculated a Guidelines range of 121 to 151 months, based on a total offense level of 32 and a criminal history of
one. (Rehl PSR, Para 183). The probation officer noted that Mr. Rehl is unable to pay a fine. (Rehl PSR, para.
178). Mr. Rehl also objected to 13 points of enhancements as related to offenses interfering with the
administration of justice as improper, contending, as did Mr. Biggs, that the instant offenses interfered with an
official proceeding, and did not impair the administration of justice. (Rehl PSR, paras. 117, 118 and 119). Mr.
Rehl suggested that the two-point enhancement for obstruction based on his trial testimony denying assault on a



police officer and his comment to other members of the Proud Boys about "nuking" communications after the
arrest of Mr. Tarrio on January 4, overstated the seriousness of 5 2 the conduct. (Rehl PSR, para. 122) Mr. Rehl
does not challenge the three-point role enhancement for having a "managerial" role in the events of January 6,
2021. (Rehl PSR, para. 3) If the Court agreed with Mr. Rehl's objections, his total offense level would be reduced
from a level 32 to a level 17, which corresponds to a period of incarceration of 24 to 30 months. If the Court were
to reject his claims as to the obstruction enhancement, but accept his other objections, the total offense level
would be 19, corresponding to 30 to 37 months imprisonment. Mr. Biggs has been incarcerated since April 20,
2021. Mrl. Rehl has been incarcerated since March 17, 2021. Application of the Guidelines calculations proposed
by the defendants would likely result in their release at or about the time sentence is imposed. Upon information
and belief, the Government will seek a sentence of 20 years or more for each defendant. Mssrs. Rehl and Biggs
ask for a non-Guidelines sentence on two grounds: first, such a reading the Guidelines overstates the
seriousness of the offense; and, second, such a reading of the Guidelines would yield unwarranted disparities in
sentencing of similarly situated defendants, to wit, Mssrs. Rhodes and Meggs in the Oath Keepers case. V.
Defendants' Characteristics A. Mr. Biggs Military History Mr. Biggs was medically discharged from the United
States Army on February 14, 2013 after more than eight years of service. He is the recipient of numerous military
honors for his active service, including a Purple Heart, resulting from a traumatic brain injury in Iraq, multiple
good conduct medals, a combat action badge and a special citation 6 2 from former President Barack Obama for
work done on prevention of sexual abuse in the military. He also was a member of a unit cited for commendable
service by former President George W. Bush. (Biggs PSR, paras. 149, 163). Upon his discharge from the
military, he received a disability pension as a result of his medical discharge. (Biggs PSR, para. 163) That
pension was terminated incident to his arrest for the instant offenses. Education/Employment Mr. Biggs earned a
GED and has attended community college without earning a degree. He studied communications and worked
from 2014 to 2017 as a correspondent for Infowars in Austin, Texas, leaving that employment to spend time
caring for his mother who, at the time, was seriously ill. (Biggs PSR, para. 154) At one point he possessed an
emergency medical technician, but he permitted that to lapse prior to his arrest. (Biggs, PSR, para. 159) It is
unclear whether the felony convictions in this case will be a bar to recertification. He has also worked
intermittently as a security consultant. (Biggs PSR, para. 164) In 2018, he earned nominal income on a podcast
focused on veterans related issues. (Biggs PSR, para. 166) Family Man Mr. Biggs is separated from his wife but
passionately engaged in the life of their daughter, who is in the first grade. (Biggs PST, para. 147) He remains
committed to his mother's welfare. He hopes to return to his home in Ormond Beach in Florida upon his release.
(Biggs PSR, para. 148) 7 2 Medical/Mental Health History Mr. Biggs struggled with post-traumatic stress (PTSD)
after his head injury in Iraq and subsequent to his discharge from the military. He was intermittently suicidal but
reports that he has overcome PTSD and depression in the years since his return to civilian society. He is in good
health today. (Biggs PSR, 149, 153-4) Limited Employment Prospects It is not obvious how Mr. Biggs will support
himself or his daughter after his release from custody. He contends that a lengthy period of incarceration reduces
the likelihood of a meaningful relationship with the most important person in his life – his daughter. And that the
longer he remains incarcerated, the more difficult it will be for him to reintegrate into society. B. Mr. Rehl Military
History Mr. Rehl served in the United States Marine Corps from late 2009 until May 30, 2012, when h








































